IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. 17-2009

STANDARD WATER CONTROL SYSTEMS, INC.,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

MICHAEL D. JONES, CORI JONES,
Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE LAWRENCE MCLELLAN, JUDGE

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

JOHN F. FATINO
fatino@whitfieldlaw.com
JONATHAN KRAMER
kramer@whitfieldlaw.com
ZACHARY J. HERMSEN
hermsen@whitfieldlaw.com
WHITFIELD & EDDY, P.L.C.
699 Walnut, Suite 2000
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone: (515) 288-6041
Fax: (515) 246-1474

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS,
MICHAEL AND CORI JONES

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT MICHAEL AND CORI SOMEHOW WAIVED THEIR HOMESTEAD PROTECTION RIGHTS.

Standard Water Control Sys., Inc. v. Jones, 888 N.W.2d 673
(Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

IOWA CODE § 561.16 (2017)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa Code Chapter 561 (2017)

State v. Stanford, 474 N.W.2d 573 (Iowa 1991)

Harden v. State, 434 N.W.2d 881 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Meyer, 705 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)

IOWA CODE § 561.21 (2017)

First Am. Bank v. Urbandale Laser Wash, LLC, 894 N.W.2d 24
(Iowa Ct. App. 2017)

In re Estate of Waterman, 847 N.W.2d 560 (Iowa 2014)

In re Wipperling, 286 B.R. 106 (N.D. Iowa 2002)

IOWA CODE § 561.21(3) (2017)

Iowa Code Chapter 572 (2017)

IOWA CODE § 572.2(1) (2017)

IOWA CODE § 561.5 (2017)

IOWA CODE § 561.6 (2017)

In re Marriage of Lenz, No. 02-1022, 2003 WL 21458484
(Iowa Ct. App. June 25, 2003)

Wilson v. Liberty Mut. Group, 666 N.W.2d 163 (Iowa 2003)

Vennerberg Farms, Inc. v. IGF Ins. Co., 405 N.W.2d 810 (Iowa 1987)

IOWA CODE § 625A (2017)

United Fire and Cas. Co. v. Iowa Dist. Court for Sioux County,
612 N.W. 2d 101 (Iowa 2000)

Lee v. State, 874 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2016)

Bahl v. City of Asbury, 725 N.W.2d 317 (Iowa 2006)

In re Lone Tree Cmty. Sch. Dist., 159 N.W.2d 522 (Iowa 1968)

Standard Water Control Sys., Inc. v. Jones, No. 17-0854, 2018 WL 739330
(Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 7, 2018)

Francksen v. Miller, 297 N.W.2d 375 (Iowa 1980)

Scheffert v. Scheffert, No. 12-2147, 2013 WL 5508538
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2013)

IOWA CODE § 561.22 (2017)

Iowa Code Chapter 628 (2017)

IOWA CODE § 628.21 (2017)

IOWA CODE § 561.7 (2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the case involves the important legal principals of the interplay between the mechanic's lien statute (Iowa Code chapter 572) and the Iowa homestead protections (Iowa Code chapter 561). Moreover, given the broad statutory protection given to homestead rights in Iowa, the case is of broad public importance. Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2)(c), (d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Defendants-Appellants, Michael and Cori Jones ("Michael and Cori") hired Standard Water Control Systems, Inc. ("Standard Water") to waterproof their home's basement. (Tr. 216:1-18)(App. 22). During the course of Standard Water's work, Standard Water damaged Michael and Cori's water and sewer line, causing damage to the basement. (Tr. 221:4-9)(App. 22). After Michael and Cori refused to pay the full amount for the work that resulted in flooding and damaged water and sewer lines, Standard Water filed a petition to foreclose a mechanic's lien on Michael and Cori's home. (Petition)(App. 7-20). The Iowa District Court for Polk County ("District Court") ruled in favor of Standard Water. (Ruling 11/5/2014)(App. 23-35). The District Court's ruling (1) authorized Standard Water to foreclose its lien

in the amount of \$5,400 plus interest, while (2) requiring Standard Water to either complete the approximately \$500 worth of work remaining to be done on Michael and Cori's basement, or reduce the \$5,400 judgment by \$500. *Id.* at 12 (App. 34). Despite Standard Water receiving a judgment of only \$5,400, plus interest, minus \$500 worth of unfinished work (\$4,900 the "Judgment Amount"), the District Court additionally awarded Standard Water \$43,835.25 in attorney fees and \$479.04 in costs. (Order 2/11/2015)(App. 75-88).

An appeal followed. The Court of Appeals vacated the attorney fee award and remanded for further fact finding on the attorney fee issue. *Standard Water Control Sys., Inc. v. Jones*, 888 N.W.2d 673 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016). Following remand from the Court of Appeals, the District Court held that Standard Water may collect its judgment, including trial attorney fees, appellate attorney fees, and costs, by foreclosing on Michael and Cori's home at a sheriff's sale, despite all parties agreeing that Michael and Cori's home constitutes their "homestead" under Iowa's homestead statute. (Order 11/12/2017 at 3)(App. 376). The statute states, "The homestead of every person is exempt from judicial sale where there is no special declaration of statute to the contrary." Iowa Code § 561.16¹; (Order 11/12/2017

¹ All references to the Iowa Code are for the 2017 edition.

at 7)(App. 380). As a result of the District Court's ruling, challenged here, Standard Water may collect both its judgment for materials and labor and also its judgment for attorney fees, interest, and costs directly against the homestead notwithstanding the language of section 561.21(3) limiting such amounts.

The present appeal does not concern the merits of the underlying mechanic's lien judgment but instead is focused on the allowance of an attorney fee award as a lien on a homestead.

B. Course of Proceedings

Given the lengthy procedural history here, it is best to start with the end in mind. Here the District Court concluded that Michael and Cori were entitled to maintain their homestead rights against Standard Water's judgment for labor, materials, costs and attorney fees but that the argument had been waived. (Order 11/12/2017 at 11-12)(App. 384-385). Michael and Cori maintain this was error on behalf of the District Court.

The procedural history starts much earlier when Standard Water filed a petition to foreclose a mechanic's lien back on October 30, 2013. (Petition)(App. 7-20). The District Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on November 5, 2014. (Ruling 11/5/2014)(App. 23-35). The District Court granted Standard Water's mechanic's lien claim and denied

Michael and Cori's counterclaims. *Id.* at 9-10 (App. 31-32). Following Standard Water's application for attorney fees and costs, (Aff. of Fees and Costs 11/12/2014)(App. 36-74), the District Court awarded Standard Water the following:

- (1) \$5,400 plus interest on its mechanic's lien, with the caveat that Standard Water must either complete the approximately \$500 worth of work remaining to be done on Michael and Cori's basement, or reduce the \$5,400 judgment by \$500. (Ruling 11/5/2014 at 12)(App. 34).
- (2) \$43,835.25 in attorney fees and \$479.04 in costs. (Order 2/11/2015)(App. 75-88).

On March 13, 2015, Michael and Cori appealed the District Court's rulings. (Notice of Appeal 3/13/2015)(App. 95-97). The Court of Appeals filed its decision on August 31, 2016. *Standard Water Control Systems, Inc. v. Jones*, 888 N.W.2d 673 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016) ("*Standard Water I*"). The Court of Appeals affirmed on the merits, but held that the District Court abused its discretion by entering an attorney fee award that "exceeded 800% of the underlying judgment." *Id.* at 679. The Court of Appeals then remanded the case for a recalculation of an appropriate fee award. *Id.*

While the first appeal was pending, Standard Water attempted to collect its judgment by levying on Michael and Cori's home. (Praecipe 8/3/2015;

Execution 8/4/2015)(App. 102-103; 104-106). The sheriff levied on Michael and Cori's home on October 21, 2015. (Return on Execution 10/21/2015)(App. 107-119). Iowa law provided Michael and Cori the right to redeem their home from the sheriff's sale, with this redemption right expiring on October 20, 2016. *Id.*

Shortly after the *Standard Water I* ruling, Michael and Cori filed their Motion to Set Aside Sale (of their home). (Motion to Set Aside 9/1/2016)(App. 120-147). Michael and Cori argued that “[p]art of the basis of the execution on the Joneses’ property was the attorney fee award,” and “[i]n light of the appellate court vacating the attorney fee award, the execution and Sheriff’s sale should likewise be set aside.” *Id.* ¶¶ 8-9 (App. 121). The identification of the subject property as homestead was raised as part of the motion. (Reply Sppt. Motion to Set Aside Sale 9/20/2016, ¶ 6)(App. 150). The District Court granted this motion on the basis that “[t]he court of appeals’ decision reversed a substantial amount of the judgment which precipitated the sheriff’s sale. Since the underlying judgment which made the sheriff’s sale possible has been eliminated equity demands that the sheriff’s sale which was authorized by the judgment should likewise be set aside until the court has the opportunity to address the court of appeals’ decision.” (Order 9/28/2016 at 4)(App. 158). On March 24, 2017, the District Court further clarified that in

light of its order vacating the sheriff's sale, "[i]f a sheriff's sale is to occur Standard will need to initiate a new one in *accordance with the requirements under Iowa law.*" (Order 3/24/2017 at 24)(App. 183) (emphasis added).

After substantial briefing by the parties, on March 24, 2017, the District Court entered an order granting Standard Water \$41,670.25 for trial fees and \$17,283.44 for appellate fees for a total fee award of \$58,953.69. (Order 3/24/2017)(App. 160-184). On June 1, 2017, Michael and Cori appealed the District Court's decision to award \$58,953.69 in trial and appellate attorney fees. (Notice of Appeal 6/1/2017)(App. 187-189). The Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's order on February 7, 2018. *Standard Water Control Sys., Inc. v. Jones*, No. 17-0854, 2018 WL 739330 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 7, 2018) ("*Standard Water II*"). However, no further award was made for appellate attorney fees in Standard Water's favor.² *Id.*

At the same time, during the second appeal regarding the District Court's fee award, Standard Water resumed the process of collecting its judgment by attempting to levy on Michael and Cori's home by sheriff's sale. On June 6, 2017, Standard Water again moved to foreclose its lien on Michael and Cori's home. (Special Execution 6/6/2017)(App. 190-192). This new execution was made necessary by the District Court's order vacating Standard

² Application for Further Review pending.

Water's previous execution and sheriff's sale. The sheriff's sale of Michael and Cori's home was then scheduled for August 22, 2017. *Id.*

On August 10, 2017 (*prior* to the sheriff's sale of their home), Michael and Cori again asserted their homestead rights in their Motion to Vacate. (Mot. to Vacate 8/10/2017)(App. 193-198). The gist of the Motion to Vacate was that Standard Water's praecipe was erroneous in that it included amounts not allowable by Iowa Code section 561.21(3) against the homestead. *Id.*

Michael and Cori also attempted to tender the judgment amount, less attorney fees, to redeem their home. (Aff. of Cori Jones 8/22/2017) (App. 322-323).³ That is, Cori attempted to tender the amount due under Iowa Code section 561.21(3) for work done and material furnished: \$4,900. *Id.* The tender was refused by the Sheriff's Office. *Id.*

It was undisputed by the parties that the subject property was the homestead of Michael and Cori. (Aff. of Cori Jones 8/22/2017; Resist. to Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion 9/5/2017 ¶ 31)(App. 322-323; 346).

³ Michael and Cori have since redeemed their home for the full amount of the bid against the homestead under a reservation of rights. (Notice of Redemption 11/17/2017)(App. 387-388). However, if Michael and Cori are successful in demonstrating that Iowa's homestead statute does not allow Standard Water to collect attorney fees from Michael and Cori's homestead, Michael and Cori will have a claim for restitution pursuant to Iowa Code section 625A.15 for the amount paid to redeem their home beyond the maximum amount allowed by Iowa's homestead statute, Iowa Code chapter 561.

As a result of Michael and Cori’s timely assertion of their homestead protection rights under Iowa Code chapter 561, Standard Water could not collect the full amount of its judgment by foreclosing on Michael and Cori’s home; instead, Standard Water could only collect the portion of its judgment that was specifically “incurred for work done or material furnished exclusively for the improvement of the homestead,” i.e. the \$4,900 mechanic’s lien. IOWA CODE §§ 561.16 (“The homestead of every person is exempt from judicial sale where there is no special declaration of statute to the contrary”), 561.21(3) (“The homestead may be sold to satisfy debts ... incurred for work done or material furnished *exclusively* for the improvement of the homestead”) (emphasis added).

On August 21, 2017, the District Court ruled on Michael and Cori’s Motion to Vacate. (Order 8/21/2017)(App. 316-318). The District Court held that it did not have sufficient factual findings to rule that Michael and Cori’s home constituted their “homestead” under Iowa Code chapter 561. *Id.* However, the District Court also explained that if Michael and Cori were able to provide additional factual support for their home’s “homestead” status, Michael and Cori could argue for their homestead rights at that time. *Id.* Otherwise, the sale was allowed to proceed.

On August 22, 2017, Cori filed an affidavit stating that the home “is the homestead of my family.” (Aff. of Cori Jones 8/22/2017 ¶ 2)(App. 322). On August 24, 2017, Michael and Cori filed a Notice of Recording Selection of Homestead and Plat of Homestead. (Notice 8/24/2017)(App. 334-335). This affidavit included an attached exhibit, titled “Selection of Homestead and Plat of Homestead,” that Michael and Cori had filed with the Polk County, Iowa Recorder on August 21, 2017. (Notice 8/24/2017 Ex. 1)(App. 335).

On August 22, 2017, Michael and Cori also filed their Motion to Reconsider Order Re: Motion to Vacate Writ of Special Execution and Alternative Motion Pursuant to Iowa Code section 628.21 (“Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion”). (Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion 8/22/2017)(App. 319-321). This motion explained that, in light of Cori’s affidavit and Michael and Cori’s Selection of Homestead and Plat of Homestead, the District Court now had sufficient factual basis to (1) vacate Standard Water’s writ of execution on Michael and Cori’s home, and (2) enter an order clarifying that Michael and Cori could redeem their home by paying \$4,900 (i.e. the amount that is actually collectible from Michael and Cori’s homestead pursuant to Iowa Code sections 561.16 and 561.21). (Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion 8/22/2017)(App. 319-321). Standard Water filed a resistance that “stipulate[d] that the Property in this litigation is the

Joneses' homestead," but argued (1) that the Jones should not be entitled to their homestead right "pursuant to the doctrine of judicial estoppel" and "law of the case," and (2) that the entire judgment was somehow collectible from Michael and Cori's home despite Iowa Code chapter 561's homestead protections. (Resist. Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion 9/5/2017 ¶¶ 31, 37)(App. 346, 347-348). Recall that the District Court allowed the sale to proceed. (Order 8/21/2017)(App. 316-318).

Approximately two weeks after Michael and Cori documented the homestead status of the property, the sheriff's sale of Michael and Cori's home occurred, with Standard Water the successful bidder. (Sheriff's Return on Execution 8/22/2017)(App. 324-333).

On November 12, 2017, the District Court ruled on Michael and Cori's Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion. (Order 11/12/2017)(App. 374-386). The District Court agreed that Michael and Cori's home was entitled to Iowa Code chapter 561's homestead protections, explaining:

Our Supreme Court determined long ago that the homestead statute was to be construed "liberally in favor of the owner of the home." It is evident to this court that the legislature passed the statute for the purpose of protecting the homes of individuals from execution except in certain limited cases. In this case the exception is that an execution may be brought against a homestead to satisfy debts for [t]hose incurred for work done or material furnished exclusively for the improvement of the homestead. The statute does not state that the homestead may be

executed upon to satisfy interest, court costs, costs of the action or attorney fees.

Id. at 6-7(App. 379-380) (internal citations omitted).

Despite recognizing Iowa Code chapter 561's broad protection for a family's "homestead," the District Court ultimately held that Michael and Cori "waived" their homestead rights. *Id.* at 11-12(App. 384-385). A rule 1.904(2) motion was unsuccessful. (Motion per IRCP 1.904(2) 11/27/2017; Order 12/10/2017)(App. 398-403; 404-405). On December 12, 2017, Michael and Cori filed their Notice of Appeal from the District Court's refusal to recognize Michael and Cori's homestead rights. (Notice of Appeal 12/12/2017)(App. 410-411).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Michael and Cori own a small home at 2910 Mahaska Avenue in Des Moines, Iowa. (Pet. ¶¶ 5-7)(App. 7-8). The subject property is the family's home and Michael and Cori have children. (Aff. of Cori Jones 8/22/2017 at 1; Jones Def. Reply In Sppt. of Mot. to Quash Garnishment 11/3/2017 ¶¶ 6-7)(App. 322; 368-369). In June 2013, Michael and Cori hired Standard Water to install drain tile in their basement in response to water intrusion issues in the home. *Standard Water I* at 674. Standard Water began work on July 15, 2013. *Id.* While installing drain tile in the basement, a Standard Water employee struck a water line and sewer line with a

jackhammer, causing flooding and other damage in Michael and Cori's home.

Id.

That same day (while the water and sewer lines remained damaged), Standard Water tendered a bill to Michael and Cori seeking payment for the \$5,400 balance of the contract. *Id.* at 674-675. Michael and Cori refused to pay the bill on the basis that Standard Water had jackhammered Michael and Cori's sewer line and had not repaired the damage or completed the waterproofing work. *Id.* at 675.

Standard Water then filed an action to foreclose a mechanic's lien. *Standard Water I.* at 675. As reflected by the Course of Proceedings above, a lengthy procedurally history unfolds.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT MICHAEL AND CORI SOMEHOW WAIVED THEIR HOMESTEAD PROTECTION RIGHTS.

A. Preservation of Issue for Appeal

The homestead issue has been preserved for review. The issue was first raised in 2016 following the first the *Standard Water I* decision. (Reply Sppt. Motion to Set Aside Sale 9/20/2016, ¶ 6)(App. 150). Indeed, the District Court was well aware of the homestead nature of the property. (Order 9/28/2016 at 3)(App. 157) ("This is their home and they cannot financially

afford to post an appeal bond...”). See also *id.* (inability to redeem their home from sheriff’s sale “would effectively make them homeless”).

After the District Court awarded Standard Water *additional* attorney fees Michael and Cori reasserted their homestead rights via their Motion to Vacate Writ. (Mot. to Vacate 8/10/2017 ¶ 4)(App. 193). Michael and Cori asserted these rights prior to the judicial sale of their home that is at issue on this appeal. *See id.*; Iowa Code § 561.16. Michael and Cori again asserted their homestead rights in Cori’s Affidavit and Michael and Cori’s Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion. (Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion 8/22/2017; Aff. of Cori Jones 8/22/2017)(App. 319-321; 322-324).

The statute does not require Michael and Cori to assert their homestead protection at a particular time. *See* Iowa Code § 561.16. Instead, Iowa Code section 561.16 declares the rights of a person in their homestead. This section reads, “The homestead of every person is exempt from judicial sale where there is no special declaration of statute to the contrary.” *Id.* Nevertheless, Michael and Cori asserted their homestead protection at the district court level on several occasions, thereby preserving the homestead issue for review. (Reply Sppt. Motion to Set Aside Sale 9/20/2016, ¶ 6; Motion to Vacate 8/10/2017 ¶ 4; Motion to Reconsider/Alternative Motion 8/22/2017) (App. 150; 193; 319-321).

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