#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### SUPREME COURT NO. 17-2009

#### STANDARD WATER CONTROL SYSTEMS, INC.

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant-Appellee,

v.

MICHAEL D. JONES and CORI JONES,

Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs-Appellants.

## APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE LAWRENCE MCLELLAN

#### APPELLEE'S PROOF BRIEF

Jodie C. McDougal AT0001570 Elizabeth R. Meyer AT0010139 DAVIS BROWN LAW FIRM 215 10<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 1300 Des Moines, Iowa 50309

Telephone: (515) 288-2500

Email: <u>JodieMcDougal@DavisBrownLaw.com</u> Email: <u>ElizabethMeyer@DavisBrownLaw.com</u>

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF, STANDARD WATER CONTROL SYSTEMS, INC.

####

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE JONESES WERE BARRED FROM ARGUING THAT STANDARD WATER'S ATTORNEY FEES COULD NOT BE A PART OF THE LIEN ATTACHED TO THE PROPERTY

#### A. Preservation of Error

Standard agrees that error has been preserved with regard to the Court's determination that the doctrines of judicial estoppel, law of the case, and res judicata merited denial of the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider relating to claimed homestead protection.

#### **B.** Standard of Review

The Joneses failed to cite a standard of review relating to application of the doctrines of judicial estoppel, law of the case, and res judicata to their Motion to Reconsider.

Standard notes that the Joneses' Motion to Vacate Writ and Motion to Reconsider the District Court's denial of the Motion to Vacate Writ essentially asked the District Court to vacate its judgment, which specifically provided that "all proceeds from the Sheriff's Sale of the [Joneses'] property shall be used to satisfy. . .the judgment in favor of Standard," and which included attorney fees, costs, and interest in the amount of the judgment. (App. 91-92) As such, the Joneses' motions should be considered motions to vacate a judgment pursuant to Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1012. Orders on such motions are reviewed for correction of errors at law. Kraus v. Mummau, 2018 WL 542628 at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 24, 2018)(Slip Copy)(citing In re Marriage of Kinnard, 512 N.W.2d 821, 823 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993)(applying prior Rule 252)). However, Iowa district courts have wide discretion in ruling on motions to vacate, and an order on a motion to vacate will be reversed only if an abuse of discretion is shown. Id. (citing In re Adoption of B.J.H., 564 N.W.2d 387, 391 (Iowa 1997)).

The Iowa Supreme Court has also recognized that because judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine invoked by a court at its discretion, "the appropriate

standard of appellate review [is] normally [] for an abuse of discretion." Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Hedlund, 740 N.W.2d 192, 195 (Iowa 2007)(recognizing that abuse of discretion is normal standard, but reviewing court of appeals' decision for errors at law on an application for further review).

#### C. Argument

The District Court ultimately denied the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider relating to the claim of homestead protection on the grounds of judicial estoppel, law of the case doctrine, and res judicata. The District Court's denial should be affirmed.

## 1. The District Court Correctly Denied the Joneses' Motion on the Basis of Judicial Estoppel

As recognized by the District Court, under Iowa law, a party is judicially estopped from asserting a position that is inconsistent with a prior position that was successfully raised. The Iowa Supreme Court has explained the doctrine of judicial estoppel as follows:

The doctrine of judicial estoppel prohibits a party who has successfully and unequivocally asserted a position in one proceeding from asserting an inconsistent position in a subsequent proceeding. It is a 'common sense' rule, designed to protect the integrity of the judicial process by preventing deliberately inconsistent—and potentially misleading—assertions from being successfully urged in succeeding tribunals. The doctrine is properly limited in its application to cases involving privity with, or prejudice to, the party invoking the doctrine.

Wilson v. Liberty Mut. Group. 666 N.W.2d 163, 166 (Iowa 2003), quoting Wilson v. Liberty Mut. Group. 666 N.W.2d 163, 166 (Iowa 2003), quoting Vennerberg Farms, Inc. v. IGF Ins. Co., 405 N.W.2d 810, 814 (Iowa 1987)) (internal quotations and citations omitted). "Judicial estoppel also applies when inconsistent positions otherwise meeting the requirements of the doctrine are taken in the same proceeding." Rath v. Matthias, 2013 WL 85782 at \*6 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 9, 2013) (recognizing that judicial estoppel may apply to prevent party from taking inconsistent position within same proceeding) (citing Duder v. Shanks, 689 N.W.2d 214, 221 (Iowa 2004) ("Judicial estoppel also applies when inconsistent positions otherwise meeting the requirements of the doctrine are taken in the same proceeding").

In Wellmark, Inc. v. Iowa District Court for Polk County, 890 N.W.2d 636, n. 5 (Iowa 2017), the Iowa Supreme Court explained as follows regarding the doctrine of judicial estoppel:

Plaintiffs' stipulation that their pleadings included no rule-of-reason claim had its intended effect of inducing Wellmark to withdraw its motion to stay, thereby allowing plaintiffs to avoid a possible stay order. We will not second-guess that strategic decision by experienced lawyers. But it would be unfair to allow plaintiffs to retract their stipulation after they got what they wanted from it. And it would prejudice Wellmark to allow plaintiffs to prolong this case by belatedly adding the rule-of-reason claim they stipulated out of the case. We have applied the doctrine of judicial estoppel to prevent a party from taking inconsistent positions in litigation. See Winnebago

Indus., Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567, 573–75 (Iowa 2006) (concluding employer estopped from denying liability in workers' compensation claim when it admitted liability in a prior proceeding to control the care provided); Wilson v. Liberty Mut. Grp., 666 N.W.2d 163, 167 (Iowa 2003) (employee who alleged "a bona fide dispute" to obtain approval of workers' compensation claim was estopped from pursing bad-faith claim against insurer).

#### Wellmark, 890 N.W.2d at n. 5.

As correctly recognized by the District Court, the relevant question in considering the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider was "whether the Jones[es] took an inconsistent position that was accepted by the court previously in this case." (App. 385) As discussed in the Course of Proceedings herein, and as recognized by the District Court, in seeking to set aside the first sheriff's sale, the Joneses specifically argued that the District Court should vacate the sheriff's sale in light of an expected adjustment to Standard's attorney fee following the first appeal, pleading that they could not financially afford to redeem with the present attorney fee award, and arguing that such inability to redeem would render them homeless. (App. 120-21, 152-53, 383) Had the Joneses believed that only the amount of the principal judgment should ever have been recoverable through sheriff's sale of their homestead, then the attorney fee award would have been irrelevant.

As correctly noted by the District Court, "the court in granting the motion to set aside the first sheriff's sale did so in light of the court of appeals' decision reversing the court's award of attorney fees" as advocated by the Joneses. (App.

383) The District Court correctly concluded that the Joneses, having previously succeeded based on the argument that attorney fees were a part of the judgment that dictate the redemption amount, were judicially estopped from arguing that such fees could never have formed a part of such judgment. Accordingly, the District Court's Order denying the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider should be affirmed.

### 2. The District Court Correctly Denied the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider Due to Law of the Case

"The doctrine of the law of the case represents the practice of courts to refuse to reconsider what has once been decided." <u>State v. Grosvenor</u>, 402 N.W.2d 402, 405 (Iowa 1987); accord <u>State ex rel. Goettsch v. Diacide Distrib., Inc.</u>, 596 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 1999). As explained by the Iowa Supreme Court:

Pursuant to this [law of the case] principle, legal principles announced and the views expressed by a reviewing court in an opinion, right or wrong, are binding throughout further progress of the case upon the litigants, the trial court and this court in later appeals.

Winnebago, 727 N.W.2d at 573 (Iowa 2006) (citing Grosvenor, 402 N.W.2d at 405; 5 Am.Jur.2d Appellate Review § 605, at 300–01 (1995)); see also Spiker v. Spiker, 708 N.W.2d 347, 352, n. 1 (Iowa 2006) (citing United Fire & Cas. Co. v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 612 N.W.2d 101, 103 (Iowa 2000) and In re Lone Tree Cmty. Sch. Dist., 159 N.W.2d 522, 526 (Iowa 1968) (holding that the "law of the case doctrine"

says: An appellate decision becomes the law of the case and is controlling on both the trial court and on any further appeals in the same case. Like res judicata, the law of the case doctrine is founded on a public policy against reopening matters which have been decided. Thus, issues decided by an appellate court generally cannot be reheard, reconsidered, or relitigated in the trial court." (internal quotations and citations omitted)).

In this case, the District Court declared in its February 16, 2015 Judgment and Foreclosure Decree that "Standard is entitled to an *in rem* judgment and a foreclosure of the Mechanic's Lien in the full and total amount of [Standard Water's] money judgment, together with all accruing interest, costs and fees. . ." and ordered that the Property should be sold to satisfy the judgment. (Judgment Entry, pp. 3-4) The only changes that have occurred to the Court's Judgment and Foreclosure Decree since February 16, 2015 is the change in the amount of attorney fees included in Standard Water's Judgment, as well as a \$500 reduction in the principal amount based upon the Joneses' refusal to let Standard Water back onto to the Property. (See App. 100)

As aptly stated by the District Court in its Order denying the Motion to Reconsider:

At no time prior to trial, after the court entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law or before the court entered judgment did the Jones ever assert their homestead rights. In their appeal they did not challenge the court's judgment entry allowing the sheriff's sale to

satisfy the entire money judgment which included not only the costs of the improvements but also attorney fees, interest and the costs of the action. Nor did they raise it at the time they requested that the court set aside the first sheriff's sale even though in their arguments to the court they were asserting that the house in question was their home.

(App. 384)

Here, the Court of Appeals plainly affirmed all aspects of the Court's Judgment Entry other than the amount of attorney fees awarded through trial, thus barring any further litigation relating to the Judgment Entry beyond that limited issue. See, e.g., Spahn & Rose Lumber Co. v. Jones, 2009 WL 605825, n. 5 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 11, 2009)(holding that foreclosure decree as written became the law of the case where decree was silent on issue of redemption and litigant did not appeal this issue). Accordingly, the District Court correctly concluded that pursuant to law of the case doctrine, the Joneses had waived the right to preclude Standard from collecting attorney fees through judicial sale of the Property. (App. 384)

### 3. The District Court Correctly Denied the Joneses Motion to Reconsider Due to Their Waiver of the Homestead Defense

The District Court also found denial of the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider was proper based on principles of res judicata and waiver. (App. 385) As explained by the District Court:

The homestead exemption is a personal defense which is waived if not raised initially in the foreclosure action. The Jones[es] never raised their homestead exemption rights in their answer, affirmative defenses and counterclaim filed on November 30, 2013. They never raised the defense when they requested that the court set aside the first sheriff's sale. The court concludes that the Jones[es] failed to timely raise their homestead rights as a defense. Accordingly, the Jones[es] waived this defense.

(Id.)(citing <u>Franksen v. Miller</u>, 297 N.W.2d 375, 377 (Iowa 1980); <u>Scheffert v. Scheffert</u>, 840 N.W.2d 726, 2013 WL 5508538, \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2013)).

The Joneses argue in their Brief that the cases cited by the District Court require merely that the party seeking to raise the homestead exemption raise the issue before a sheriff's sale. (Joneses' Brief, p. 35) Their reading of these cases is too narrow. As recognized by the District Court, both <u>Franksen</u> and <u>Scheffert</u> recognize that where a party fails to raise the personal defense of homestead exemption in an action to foreclose a lien on or partition real estate prior to entry of judgment, that defense is lost. <u>Franksen v. Miller</u>, 297 N.W.2d 375, 377 (Iowa 1980)(holding that judgment for foreclosure in mechanic's lien action was valid against party that failed to raise homestead exemption, a personal defense, as

defense to foreclosure action, and such determination was binding in subsequent forcible entry and detainer action on res judicata principles); Scheffert v. Scheffert, 840 N.W.2d 726, 2013 WL 5508538, \*2-3 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2013)(holding that where party failed to raise homestead exemption prior to entry of summary judgment in partition action, such defense was not available in subsequent forcible entry and detainer action under res judicata principles).

Here, like the parties in <u>Franksen</u> and <u>Scheffert</u>, the Joneses failed to raise the issue of homestead exemption as a defense in the mechanic's lien action. As noted by the District Court, in its Petition, Standard requested judgment inclusive of attorney fees and costs, and requested that the Court issue special execution for sale of the Property necessary to satisfy such judgment. (App. 10, 384) In entering judgment, the Court ordered sale of the Property to satisfy the entire judgment, inclusive of attorney fees. (App. 91-92) The Joneses' failure to raise homestead exemption as a defense constituted a waiver of that defense. <u>Franksen</u>, 297 N.W.2d at 377. Accordingly, the District Court correctly denied the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider.

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE JONESES RELIEF UNDER IOWA'S HOMESTEAD STATUTE, BUT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE PROPERTY WAS SUBJECT TO PROTECTION UNDER CHAPTER 561

#### A. Preservation of Error

Standard agrees that error has been preserved with regard to the Court's determination that the Property could be subject to protection under Iowa Code Chapter 561.

#### B. Standard of Review

Standard agrees that a district court's interpretation of statutory provisions is reviewed for correction of errors at law.

As noted above, the District Court's Order denying the Motion to Reconsider should be considered under the standard applicable to an order on a motion to vacate judgment. Orders on such motions are reviewed for correction of errors at law. Kraus, 2018 WL 542628 at \*2. However, Iowa district courts have wide discretion in ruling on motions to vacate, and an order on a motion to vacate will only be set aside if an abuse of discretion is shown. Id. (citing In re Adoption of B.J.H., 564 N.W.2d 387, 391 (Iowa 1997).

#### C. Argument

## 1. Iowa Code Chapters 561 and 572 Permit Attorney Fees Awarded in a Mechanic's Lien Action to be Part of a Judgment In Rem Against a Homestead

Although the District Court ultimately reached the correct conclusion, and determined that Standard's attorney fees, interest and costs were properly taxed against the Joneses' Property, the Court should also have denied the Joneses' Motion to Reconsider by determining the Property was not subject to protection under Iowa's homestead statute.

The District Court determined that Iowa Code Section 561.21 prohibits the collection of attorney fees, costs of the action and interest included in a mechanic's lien judgment through judicial sale of a homestead. (App. 380) The District Court reasoned that (1) Iowa's homestead statute is more specific than the mechanic's lien statute, and thus trumps the more general mechanic's lien statute; and (2) that Iowa Code Chapter 572 does not provide a special declaration to the contrary of Iowa's homestead rules. (Id.) The District Court's conclusions were erroneous.

#### a. The District Court's Interpretation of Section 561.21(3) Renders Other Applicable Law Meaningless

Iowa Code section 561.16 provides that "[t]he homestead of every person is exempt from judicial sale where there is no special declaration to the contrary." Iowa Code § 561.16 (2018). Certain exceptions to homestead protection are included in Chapter 561, while others are found in additional provisions of the

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